1962

# State of Utah v. Darrell Devere Poulson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The defendant and appellant will be referred to as defendant. The plaintiff and respondent will be referred to as the State. References to the record will be designated "R.", and references to the separate transcript will be designated "T."

A complaint was filed on September 20, 1961, charging the defendant with the crime of murder in the

first degree. The preliminary hearing was held October 3, 1961, and defendant was bound over to the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah (R. 3, 4). On October 27, 1961, a Notice of Proposed Defense of Insanity was filed, and a plea of not guilty was entered (R. 13). The case was tried before the Honorable R. L. Tuckett commencing on the 11th day of December, 1961. A verdict finding the defendant guilty of murder in the first degree was returned on December 14, 1961 (R. 107). No recommendation of leniency was made by the jury. Thereafter, an appeal was taken to this Court from the judgment of the District Court in denying the defendant's Motion for a New Trial (R. 117).

Counsel for the defendant at the trial were Phillip V. Christenson, Esquire, and M. Dayle Jeffs, Esquire, both of whom were appointed by the Court. Counsel on appeal did not participate in the trial of the proceedings or the subsequent motion for new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The testimonial evidence offered by the State consists principally and materially of the following: Mr. Darlo Sawyer, a resident of American Fork, Utah, testified that he sought the services of Karen Mechling to watch his children on the evening of September 16, 1961 (T. 191); that he saw her for the last time at 7:30 p.m. that evening (T. 192); that he returned to his



residence at 2:30 a.m., on the morning of the 17th, and found a caulking gun in a chair and noticed "four or five" drops of blood on the floor (T. 193); and, that the following morning Karen Mechling's body was found in a vacant lot adjacent to the Sawyer residence (T. 196-7).

Medical evidence offered by Guy A. Richards, M.D., tended to establish that the victim had been dead for several hours at the time of his examination shortly after 7:00 a.m., on the morning of September 17, 1962, but could not fix the time of death (T. 226-229).

An autopsy was performed by Wilford H. Le-Cheminant, M.D., who testified, in substance, that lesions were present on the victim's head, face, hands, fingers, shoulders and legs (T. 232-3); that the vaginal area was torn (T. 233); that there was a skull fracture (T. 234); that "there were several lesions that could in themselves account for the death \* \* \*;" that the skull fracture "could account for her death" (T. 235); that "less than five minutes" elapsed between the blow to the cranium and the time of death; that semen was present in the vagina (T. 237-8).

A statement of the defendant was received in evidence (T. 253) as Exhibit 15. In substance; the defendant admitted entering the home, striking the girl and subsequently having relations with her.

The defendant's case consisted of evidence tending to establish the defense of insanity, as presented by his plea. Deputy Utah County Sheriff, Art Harold Child,

testified that on the Saturday evening, prior to the offense, that he had questioned the defendant in connection with an earlier attack upon another girl with a piece of iron (T. 288-301). The defendant admitted striking at the girl while she was riding a bicycle, but that he was frightened away by a man who witnessed the attack. The witness then related the following statement by the defendant: "He told me that when he would get this feeling [a desire for sexual relations] he would usually go window peeking and build this up to a certain pitch, and after he had built himself up to a certain pitch, he sometimes would have to attack the girl or have relations with the girl and he didn't think there was any better way other than this way" (T. 294-5). The offense charged in the instant case was committed the same evening that the defendant was questioned and then released by Deputy Sheriff Child.

---

Mr. Lynn Hanks, Principal of the Springville Junior High School, testified on behalf of the defendant, as follows: That he was the custodian of the elementary school records of the defendant; that Defendant's Exhibit 21 was the permanent student record of defendant for the 5th, 6th, 7th, and 8th, grades, reflecting his attendance and marks (T. 314-5).

Mr. A. LeRoy Erickson, Principal of the Grant Elementary School which was attended by the defendant, identified Defendant's Exhibit 23, a 6th grade report of defendant's intellectual, physical, emotional, aesthetic, social and reverent behavior (T. 319-327).

The former Chief Probation Officer of the Third District Juvenile Court, Mr. Roy Passey, identified Defendant's Exhibit 24 as a card from the files of the probation office pertaining to the defendant and describing, *inter alia*, "mauling over women on street" on December 8, 1954, and "sexual attack on half sister" on April 27, 1955, the latter resulting in his commitment to the American Fork Training School by the District Court. The Court refused to admit into evidence Defendant's Exhibit 27 for identification, which purported to be an Order of Commitment to the Utah State Training School, and related pleadings.

Vernon F. Huston, M.D., Superintendent and Medical Director of the Utah State Training School at American Fork, identified Defendant's Exhibit 28, a history of the defendant's confinement at the institution (T. 338-9). The exhibit is a summary of incidents at the institution relating to the defendant, including the date of commitment, June 22, 1955, and the date of discharge, August 8, 1958. Dr. Huston advised that a vasectomy operation was performed on the defendant on August 7, 1957, to sterilize him (T. 340).

Mark K. Allen, professor of psychology at Brigham Young University and clinical consultant for the Utah State Training School testified that he conducted two psychological examinations on the defendant in 1955 and 1956 (T. 353-4); and that at the time of said examinations the defendant "was a mentally deficient person with some personality difficulties along with it" (T. 354).

Ija Korner, Chief of the section of Psychology and Associate Professor of Psychiatry in the Medical School of the University of Utah, testified as follows: That he examined the defendant in November, 1961, with respect to his "mental capacities" (T. 363); that using the verbal part of the Wechsler Bellvue Test the defendant had an I.Q. of 67, "which would put him in what you would call the feeble-minded range" (T. 364); that "I came to the opinion that it [finding with respect to the defendant] could be explained \* \* \* that mental illness is very frequently in specific cases of this kind, namely, from very early childhood on \* \* \* " (T. 365); that between 30 and 40 percent of all individuals who are at the present time in institutions and held to be feeble-minded, actually are not feeble-minded, but are mentally ill" (T. 366), that "In my opinion the feeble mindedness is related to a condition of mental illness (T. 367); that his mental illness is illustrated by the following testimony:

"Knowledge is usually used to help us in dealing with problems. Intelligence is used to help us deal with problems. Of course, it means that we are capable of using the intelligence. And from the testing, and I would like to stress the fact I am functioning as a psychologist, basing my opinion on tests from the test data I have, the impression—it is my opinion that the little, the little the defendant has in terms of intelligence is useless when he is under the impact of an emotional strain, under any kind of emotional impact. In such situation we are capable of kind of holding our emotions back, or kind of post-

poning them, or talking to ourselves. In such instances the Mr. Poulson has nothing available to help him stem whatever he is in. He resembles at that time a human being without a head, without a brain. He would not be much different from an animal in such instances. He has not got the use of these faculties in such a situation.” (T. 368) ;

that the defendant, “once launched, launched on an impulse, whatever it is on, something which stirs him up, once launched upon that he has no built-in mechanism in his machine, so to speak, which can stop him from completing the act. \* \* \* in him there is very little difference between thinking, talking, and doing. \* \* \* I don’t think he knows whether he thinks something, whether he does it, or whether he has talked about it” (T. 373) ; and, on redirect examination, that the defendant’s response to the Rorschach Test was “very deviant statistically speaking” (T. 399).

In rebuttal the State introduced the testimony of Mr. Dennis I. Greenwood, a psychologist at the Utah State Hospital, who characterized the defendant as a “mild” mental deficient (T. 413). Carl Kivler, M.D., a medical physician in charge of the mentally retarded unit at the Utah State Hospital, testified that he had examined the defendant on several occasions (T. 420) ; that he diagnosed the defendant as “mentally retarded in a degree as mild” (T. 421) ; that the defendant “knew the difference between right and wrong” at the time of the offense (T. 423) ; that he “understood the nature and the consequences of his act” (T. 423) ; that he

found no evidence of psychosis (T. 424); that the defendant “has an unrestrained sexual drive” and is “sane” (T. 428). On cross examination Dr. Kivler agreed that a person could be “mentally ill” without having “delusions” (T. 430-1).

Louis G. Moench, M.D., a Salt Lake City psychiatrist, having examined the defendant prior to trial, testified as a rebuttal witness that the defendant was “mildly mentally retarded” (T. 435); that he is suffering from no psychosis (T. 436); that the defendant, on the night of the incident had “an understanding of the difference between right and wrong” (T. 437); and in response to a hypothetical question posed by the prosecutor, that the defendant had control of his impulses on the night of the offense (T. 438).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE INSTRUCTIONS OF THE TRIAL COURT TO THE JURY WERE ERRONEOUS AND PREJUDICIAL TO THE SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS OF THE DEFENDANT IN THAT THE JURY WAS CHARGED THAT IT MUST EITHER FIND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE OR ACQUIT THE DEFENDANT.

Among its instructions to the jury, the trial court charged as follows:

“No. 15: Although there are two degrees of murder, the evidence in this case is such that either the defendant is innocent of the charges of murder, or he is guilty of murder in the first degree” (T. 445).

It is submitted that the foregoing instruction did not properly reflect the alternatives which the jury should have been given by virtue of the evidence presented at the trial. This instruction followed a charge to the jury that “the defendant has raised the issue of his sanity at the time of the alleged offense” (T. 443).

Other material instructions bearing upon this issue were in relation to the elements of “felony murder,” as follows:

“No. 4: The essential elements of the crime of murder in the first degree as charged in the information are as follows:

(1) That the defendant, Darrell Devere Poulson, killed Karen Mechling on or about the 17th day of September, 1961, at Utah County, Utah.

(2) That the killing of Karen Mechling was committed in the perpetration of the crime of rape or burglary by the defendant.

(3) That the said killing was felonious.

(4) That the said Karen Mechling died within a year and a day after the cause of death was administered.

If you believe that the evidence establishes each and all of the above elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, it is your duty to convict the defendant. On the other hand, if the

evidence has failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt one or more of said elements, then you should find the defendant not guilty.

No. 5: Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being with malice aforethought.

No. 6: Murder which is committed in the perpetration of, or attempt to perpetrate, a rape or burglary is murder in the first degree.

No. 7: Rape insofar as its definition applies to the facts in this case is an act of sexual intercourse accomplished with a female, not the wife of the perpetrator, when the female is under the age of thirteen years. Likewise, it is rape when the act of sexual intercourse is accomplished with a female, not the wife of the perpetrator, when she is at the time unconscious of the nature of the act, and this is known to the accused.

The offense of rape is a felony.

No. 8: The statutes of this States provide that any person who forceably breaks and enters, or who without force enters an open door, window, or other aperature of any house, room, apartment or tenement with intent to commit larceny or any felony is guilty of burglary. One who enters a place such as those mentioned above with the specific intent to commit larceny or any other felony is guilty of burglary, regardless of whether the intent is thereafter carried out.

No. 9: The word "felonious" as used in these instructions means performing an act with an evil heart or purpose, or acting with a deliberate intention to commit a crime" (T. 441-3).



A. FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY  
THAT THE MENTAL CONDITION OF  
THE DEFENDANT AT THE TIME OF THE  
ALLEGED OFFENSE MAY AFFECT HIS  
ABILITY TO ENTERTAIN A SPECIFIC  
INTENT ESSENTIAL TO THE CRIME  
CHARGED CONSTITUTES MATERIAL  
AND SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE TO  
THE RIGHTS OF DEFENDANT.

Significantly, the jury was presented with two alternative choices in order to find the defendant guilty of murder in the first degree. According to the instructions the jury could convict, as charged, provided they found that the killing was “committed in a perpetration of or attempt to perpetrate, a rape *or* burglary . . . ” (T. 442; italics supplied). Moreover, the jury was instructed to find that the “killing was felonious” (T. 442), the word “felonious” being defined as “performing an act with an evil heart or purpose, or acting with deliberate intention to commit a crime.”

Burglary is likewise given a complete definition, with particular emphasis upon the “specific intent” essential to that crime.

That burglary requires a specific intent is well established (Roberts v. State, 136 Tex. Ap. 138, 124 S.W. 2d 128; Hooks v. State, 145 Tenn. 43, 389 S.W. 529). As stated in *Simpson v. State*, 81 Fla. 292, 87 So. 920 (1921), “. . . The mere breaking and entering a dwelling house is not a fact from which may be in-

ferred that the accused intended to commit rape or murder," the court concluding there must be a specific intent (See 9 Am. Jur., Burglary §§ 26, 49).

**B. THE POSTURE OF THE EVIDENCE BEARING UPON THE MENTAL CONDITION OF THE DEFENDANT AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE IS SUCH AS TO REQUIRE THAT THE JURY BE INSTRUCTED THAT IT MUST FIND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE MENTAL CONDITION OF THE DEFENDANT DID NOT AFFECT HIS ABILITY TO ENTERTAIN A SPECIFIC INTENT TO COMMIT THE CRIME CHARGED.**

The evidence bearing upon the mental condition of the defendant at the time of the alleged offense, assuming it not to be sufficient to excuse the defendant from culpability altogether, is of sufficient posture to present to the jury an issue as to whether the defendant could entertain a specific intent to commit the crime charged. This evidence would require the court to instruct the jury on lesser included offenses not involving a specific intent, or not involving the state of mind and intention essential to first degree murder.

The evidence presented on behalf of the defendant bears primarily upon the issue of sanity or mental condition. That the killing occurred in the manner described by the prosecution cannot be denied, and no

issue is made here upon that score. Substantial evidence of mental impairment was offered by the defense, and it is worthwhile to summarize the picture presented. The testimony reflects that the defendant had an I.Q. of 67, "which would put him in what you would call the feeble-minded range" (T. 364); "that mental illness is very frequently in specific cases of this kind, namely, from very early childhood on . . . " (T. 365); that "feeble-mindedness is related to a condition of mental illness" (T. 367); that the defendant's response to the Rorschach Test was "very deviant statistically speaking" (T. 399); that the defendant "was a mentally deficient person with some personality difficulties along with it" (T. 364); that the defendant was confined to Utah State Training School at American Fork, and that a vasectomy operation was performed on the defendant on August 7, 1957, to sterilize him (T. 340); that the defendant's juvenile court record reflected a history of "mauling over women on street," and a "sexual attack on half sister" (Defendant Exhibit 24); that on the very evening of the commission of the principal offense the defendant had been questioned by a deputy county sheriff in connection with an earlier attack upon another girl with a piece of iron (T. 288-301); and, according to an expert witness on behalf of the defendant, "once launched, launched on an impulse, whatever it is on, something which stirs him up, once launched upon that he has no built-in mechanism in his machine, so to speak, which can stop him from completing the act. . . . In him there is very little differ-

ence between thinking, talking, and doing. . . . I don't think he knows whether he thinks something, whether he does it ,or whether he has talked about it" (T. 373). The prosecution witnesses characterized the defendant as a "mild" mental deficient (T. 413); that the defendant "has an unrestrained sexual drive" and that a person could be "mentally ill" without having "illusions" (T. 430-1).

It is submitted that the evidence bearing upon mental condition, including feeble-mindedness could affect the ability of defendant to entertain the specific intent essential to the crime of burglary ("specific intent to commit larceny or any other felony"), or "felonious" killing. We are not unmindful of those Utah decisions which assert the general proposition that where a killing takes place in the perpetration of a felony it is "murder in the first degree and can be nothing else" (State v. Condit, 101 Utah 558, 125 P.2d 801; see also State v. Mewhinney, 43 Utah 135, 134 Pac. 362, and State v. Oblizala, 60 Utah 47, 205 Pac. 739). These cases are distinguishable as no issue of mental condition was presented for consideration.

The Supreme Court of Utah in two notable decisions has formulated the view that a mental condition falling short of "legal insanity" may impair the mind of the accused sufficiently to warrant the jury in finding that he could not entertain the intent essential to the greater crime, and thus the degree of the crime must be reduced to that offense which does not involve a

specific intent (State v. Green (August 27, 1931), 6 P.2d 177; State v. Anselmo, 46 Utah 137, 148 Pac. 1071). These cases are land-mark decisions and are frequently given considerable attention by jurists and others interested in the development of the relationship between crime and mental responsibility. In the *Green* case, this Honorable Court made the following observation:

“While an accused is not entirely relieved from the responsibility for the commission of a crime on account of insanity unless the insanity be of such a nature and degree that he did know the nature or quality of his acts, or that he did not know the act was wrong, or that his mind was so impaired by the deed that he was unable to control his act, nevertheless a mental disease falling short of these effects may, *where a particular intent is a necessary element of a higher degree of a crime, have the effect of reducing the degree of such crime.*” (Italics supplied.)

The *Anselmo* case involved a first degree murder conviction, where evidence that the defendant was an epileptic and had been drinking heavily caused our Supreme Court to reverse upon the following rationale:

“While the jury found his condition in that respect was not such as to affect his mental capacity to relieve him from responsibility, yet it may have been such as to affect his mental capacity to cruelly deliberate and premeditate on his acts . . . While one’s mental condition may not excuse the act, it may nevertheless affect the degree of guilt” (P. 145).

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