1963

State of Utah v. Darrell Devere Poulson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPELLANT CAN CLAIM NO ERROR BECAUSE OF A FAILURE OF THE TRIAL JUDGE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT THE MENTAL CONDITION OF THE APPELLANT COULD BE CONSIDERED IN DETERMINING HIS CAPACITY TO INTEND AS AN ELEMENT IN BURGLARY, SINCE:

A. THE ISSUE WAS NOT RAISED AT TRIAL NOR DID THE APPELLANT PRESENT SUCH A THEORY IN DEFENSE, NOR REQUEST INSTRUCTIONS ON SUCH A THEORY, AND HAS, THEREFORE, WAIVED ANY SUCH ISSUE.

B. THE LEGAL THEORY OF PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT IS NOT PROPER BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE RELATING TO RAPE MADE IRRELEVANT SUCH A THEORY.

C. THERE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED OF APPELLANT'S IMPAIRED INTENT AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE AS WOULD REQUIRE THE COURT TO INSTRUCT ON THAT ISSUE.

D. THE DOCTRINE OF "PARTIAL RESPONSIBILITY" IS NOT COMPATIBLE WITH PSYCHIATRIC REALITIES NOR THE LEGAL TESTS OF INSANITY AND SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED IN CASES OF THIS NATURE.

* * * * *

A. THE ISSUE WAS NOT RAISED AT TRIAL, NOR DID THE APPELLANT PRESENT SUCH A THEORY IN DEFENSE, NOR REQUEST INSTRUCTIONS ON SUCH A THEORY, AND HAS, THEREFORE, WAIVED SUCH ISSUE.

In the instant case, the appellant contends for the first time, on appeal, that the trial court should have instructed the jury that appellant's mental condition might have been considered in determining whether or not the appellant had the requisite intent for the crime of burglary; and if he had no such intent, the jury should have been instructed to return a finding of second degree murder. The trial court instructed the jury on the elements of first degree murder upon the theory of a killing committed during the course of rape or burglary. Appellant's contention is that if the specific intent required for burglary could not be formed by appellant, the jury could have found the killing was not committed during the commission of burglary and, thus, a finding of second degree murder would be required.

The State submits the issue was never raised before the lower court, and that since appellant did not advance such a contention before the trial court, he may not raise the issue for the first time on appeal. The record discloses that appellant's counsel at trial adopted an all or nothing position. Thus, counsel stated (R. 283) :

“Of course the offense is first degree murder no matter . . . in the instructions.”

No questions were asked by appellant, either of his own witnesses or those of the State, which related to whether the appellant could entertain the requisite intent to commit the crime of burglary. No instructions were requested from the court specifically calling the jury's attention to the weight of mental evidence on the intent element of burglary. The appellant cannot now for the first time contend that the trial court should have *sua sponte* instructed on an issue which was not raised nor any instructions requested thereon. It is stated in 41 C.J.S. Homicide, Sec. 414:

“The rule applicable in criminal cases generally, as discussed in Criminal Law §§ 1669-1700, that questions cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, together with the various subsidiary and detailed rules as to the necessity, as a condition precedent to the review of a particular matter, of first calling it to the attention of the trial court in some way as by motion, objection, or request for an instruction, and of excepting to the ruling of the trial court thereon and of assigning the alleged error as a ground of a motion for a new trial, is generally applied in homicide cases; and if error is not properly objected to in the lower court it is waived.”

Certainly, the defendant has the duty, where he relies upon an affirmative fact of exoneration, to prove that fact and raise that issue. *People v. Tidwell*, 4 U. 506, 12 P. 61 (1886). The failure of defendant to carry this burden in a homicide case precludes his claim of error. *People v. Rodriquez*, 182 Cal. 197, 187 P. 423; *People v. McCurdy*, 140 Cal. App. 499, 35 P. 2d 569; *Lee v. State*, 27 Ariz. 52, 229 P. 939.

In *State v. Thompson*, 110 U. 113, 170 P. 2d 153 (1946), this court expressly spoke against giving to a jury an instruction where no issue or evidence has been placed before them. The court stated:

“* * * We have repeatedly criticized the giving of abstract statements of the law to the jury, and held that it is the duty of the court to apply the law to the facts supported by the evidence and to not instruct on any question which is not involved in the case under the evidence.”

Certainly, where defense counsel has expressly stated that no issue of degrees of murder is involved, offered no instructions, took no exception to the failure to give an appropriate instruction, did not argue such a theory, and did not pattern his evidence so it would fairly raise the issue, the court has no duty to instruct the jury beyond stating the elements of the major offense. To compel such an instruction would place the trial judge in a dilemma, since he would have the admonition in the *Thompson* case to the contrary; and if he did instruct, a defendant, in a similar position as appellant, could contend that such action could cause a compromise verdict

to a lesser offense, whereas, otherwise, the jury may be disposed to acquit, and thereby raise an issue of error.

The trial court, in this case, did instruct the jury that a "specific intent" was needed in the crime of burglary (R. 443). Further, the jury was instructed that there had to be a union of act and intent (R. 448). If any additional specific instruction were needed, it was certainly incumbent upon the appellant to request it at trial. *State v. Cobo*, 90 U. 89, 60 P. 2d 952 (1936). His failure to do so must be deemed a waiver of any claim on appeal.

It is submitted that an additional reason indicates that the appellant consciously did not raise the issue of mental impairment as it relates to specific intent. The appellant requested an instruction from the court on the so-called Durham test. *Durham v. United States*, 214 F. 2d 862 (D.C. Cir. 1954). It has been held by the Circuit Court for the District of Columbia that the partial responsibility test is not applicable in the face of the Durham test. *Stewart v. United States*, 94 App. D.C. 293, 214 F. 2d 879 (1954); *Stewart v. United States*, 275 F. 2d 617 (D. C. Cir. 1960).¹ It would, therefore, have been inconsistent with the position assumed by the appellant had the court so instructed. See *Mark v. State*, 236 Ind. 455, 141 N.E. 126 (1957) for recognizing the failure to raise a defense of mental abnormality on the basis of trial strategy.

It is submitted, therefore, that there was a waiver of any claim to an instruction on reduced responsibility.

¹ The court speaks of "diminished responsibility" but confuses "partial responsibility" with the concept. See Williams, *Criminal Law*, 2nd Ed., Gen. Part., Sections 172, 173.

**B. THE LEGAL THEORY OF PARTIAL
IMPAIRMENT IS NOT PROPER BECAUSE
THE EVIDENCE RELATING TO RAPE MADE
IRRELEVANT SUCH A THEORY.**

The theory upon which the instant case was submitted to the jury was upon the felony murder rule. The felony murder statute encompasses both a killing committed during commission of the crime of rape and that committed during burglary. Section 76-30-3, Utah Code Annotated 1953. Burglary may involve entering a building in the night time to commit rape. Section 76-9-2, Utah Code Annotated 1953. When the rape is actually consummated, two crimes have been committed, burglary and rape.

Rape does not require a specific intent, but rather only requires a general intent to commit the act. Thus, in *Walden v. State*, 178 Tenn. 71, 156 S.W. 2d 305 (1941), the Tennessee Supreme Court stated the general rule:

“In the crime of rape, no intent is requisite other than that evidenced by the doing of the acts constituting the offense [citing authorities].”

The court therein held intoxication to be no defense to a rape charge. This is supported by substantial authority. *McGuinn v. United States*, 191 F. 2d 477; *Smith v. State*, 38 So. 2d 347 (Ala.); *State v. Michel*, 225 La. 1040, 74 So. 2d 158; 44 Am. Jur., Rape, Sec. 40. In *State v. Mays*, 225 N. C. 486, 35 S.E. 2d 494 (1945), the defendant was charged with murder under the felony murder rule. The defendant contended that his mental deficiencies should be considered as to his capacity to deliberate or premed-

tate. The court noted that where a murder is committed in the course of rape, the mental issue short of insanity has no weight. The court stated:

“In this connection, we may note that the mental capacity of the defendant to deliberate and pre-meditate is not at issue. If he possessed sufficient sanity to enable him to commit the crime rape then he is legally responsible for the homicide that resulted.”

See also *Commonwealth v. Prenni*, 357 Pa. 572, 55 A. 2d 532.

It is submitted that when the intent to commit rape would be the element of burglary involved, and when the rape was in fact consummated, and an unlawful killing committed incident to rape, the intent aspect in burglary becomes secondary to the rape and specific intent is, therefore, immaterial.

If the homicide is committed during the *res gestae* course of rape, or incidental to the commission of rape, the felony murder rule is applicable. *MacAvory v. State*. 144 Neb. 827, 15 N.W. 2d 45 (1944) ; *Commonwealth v. Bolish*, 381 Pa. 500, 133 R. 2d 464. The evidence in the instant case clearly shows the commission of rape. Extensive vaginal damage and the presence of semen was noted by the pathologist, and the appellant's statement to the sheriff indicated he approached the deceased child with the thought of rape, and did in fact commit rape upon her. The appellant by his statement makes clear he was aware of his actions since he had to use his fingers to effect penetration. The fact that the appellant took

flight to escape also supports such a conclusion. This was corroborated by the psychiatrists who examined the appellant, since they testified to similar statements from the appellant. Based on this evidence, it is clear that the court, in instructing on burglary, granted the appellant a more favorable position than was necessary. It is submitted that when uncontroverted evidence of rape is shown, no issue of partial responsibility is involved since no issue of specific intent is involved. To so construe otherwise would place the jury in unnecessary confusion.

C. THERE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED OF APPELLANT'S IMPAIRED INTENT AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE AS WOULD REQUIRE THE COURT TO INSTRUCT ON THAT ISSUE.

The appellant presented no evidence to the court that would be sufficient to justify an instruction on the issue of an impaired ability to intend. Not one question was asked of any of the psychiatric or psychological experts who testified as to whether the appellant could harbor the specific intent to commit rape upon entering the apartment where Karen Mechling was baby sitting. The only evidence introduced that could even bear on the matter was that of Dr. Ija Korner, whose opinion was that the appellant had an impaired ability to control his impulses (R. 364). This conclusion was based on the results of psychological tests.² Dr. Korner testified specifically that he did not look to determine whether the appellant understood the "consequences of

² Dr. Korner stressed that he was functioning as a psychologist and was limiting his opinion to the results achieved from testing (R. 367, 383, 390, 392, 396, 401-402).

his acts," because it was not "part of my job." (R. 396) The only question asked of appellant's key defense witness as to appellant's comprehension of his act at the time, which would relate to his intent, was answered with a conclusion that no one except the appellant and his "Maker" could tell. Finally, in response to a hypothetical question, Dr. Korner said it was "possible" appellant could not control his actions. This conclusion would be insufficient to establish medical causation in a civil trial. *Salt Lake City v. Industrial Commission*, 104 U. 436, 140 P. 2d 844 (1943); *Chief Consolidated Mng. Co. v. Salisbury*, 61 U. 66, 210 P. 929 (1922). The psychiatric testimony was that the accused was only mildly mentally deficient, and the appellant's background and childhood did not indicate a total inability to comprehend.

It is submitted that the above-mentioned evidence was not sufficient to require the court to instruct on the issue of partial responsibility. In *State v. Van Vlack*, 57 Ida. 316, 65 P. 2d 736 (1937), the Idaho Supreme Court was faced with a contention that it should adopt the "partial responsibility" standard to reduce first degree murder to second degree murder. The court refused to hold it error to fail to give such an instruction. In the first instance, the court rejected the theory of the rule, but also noted that no evidence was before the court to show that the defendant could not form the requisite intent. The court held that mere testimony of "mental illness" as such was not sufficient to require submitting the case to the jury, since the jury should have evidence before them showing the "line of demarcation" beyond which a defendant's mental powers to intend would not

go. Having established such a requirement, the court stated:

“There are three reasons therefore why the requested instruction was properly refused. * * * no basis in law for a distinction between the mental ability to entertain deliberation and premeditation, and malice aforethought has been presented. * * * such line of demarcation was not and has not been pointed out in the evidence adduced by either party.” (65 P. 2d at 759)

Weihsfen and Overholser, *Mental Disorder Affecting the Degree of Crime*, 56 Yale Law Journal 959 (1947), at page 974, made note of this aspect of the *Van Vlack* case:

“A third reason put forth in *State v. Van Vlack* for rejecting the requested instruction was that there was no demarcation made in the testimony between ability to entertain malice aforethought or deliberation and premeditation. The medical evidence presented on behalf of the defense was that defendant did not know right from wrong, and suffered from a delusion and a maniac depressive form of insanity. There was no evidence and no standard by which the jury could determine whether defendant had that greater degree of mentality required to deliberate and premeditate.

“This was a point of evidence. The requested instruction was not supported by the evidence as summarized by the court. This ground was enough to support the decision * * *.”

Certainly, evidence merely meeting the tests of general insanity and evidencing some mental problem is not a sufficient showing to warrant the jury being instructed on the partial responsibility theory. Here, there was no

evidence before the jury demonstrating how the appellant could understand the nature and consequences of his act, know right from wrong, and adhere to the right, yet still have a total impairment of his intent to commit the act.

In *United States v. Storey*, 9 U. S. C. M. A. 162, 25 C. M. R. 424 (1958), the defendant was convicted of assaulting a military policeman in the execution of his duties. The evidence showed the accused entered a barracks and fired his weapon at the wall. He was ordered to leave and did so. An air policeman approached the accused to apprehend him. The air policeman ordered the accused to drop his weapon; instead, the accused advanced on the policeman and did not stop until the policeman had fired four warning shots. A psychiatrist testified that the accused was legally sane but was suffering from a “mental disorder” falling within the character and behavior group. He further testified that the accused’s ability to adhere to the right was impaired and he believed the offenses charged were largely the result of the mental condition. He also stated his belief that the accused’s ability to adhere to the right was impaired and degree of premeditation, intent, willfulness or malice required by the charges. The accused was convicted and on appeal attacked the law officer’s instructions to the court on the question of partial responsibility. The government admitted the instruction was inadequate, but submitted the evidence did not raise the issue or require such an instruction and, hence, the error was not prejudicial. The Court of Military Appeals affirmed the conviction, holding the issue of partial responsibility was

not validly raised. The court held that the evidence must raise an issue of a "total" inability to intend. It stated:

"In the instant case there is a complete absence of any evidence showing *lack of capacity to intend*, as distinguished from an *impaired ability to intend*. We conclude, therefore, that the issue of lack of mental capacity to intend was not raised and accordingly the law officer was under no duty to so instruct." (Emphasis added)

The court required more than impairment, but rather evidence of total inability to form the required intent. In *United States v. Gray*, 9 U. S. C. M. A. 208, 25 C. M. R. 470 (1958), the Court of Military Appeals had similar evidence before it with a claim that an instruction was required. The court again held the evidence insufficient to warrant instruction.

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